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            Hold childhood in reverence, and do not be in any hurry to judge it for good or ill. Leave exceptional cases to show themselves, let their qualities be tested and confirmed, before special methods are adopted. Give nature time to work before you take over her business, lest you interfere with her dealings. You assert that you know the value of time and are afraid to waste it. You fail to perceive that it is a greater waste of time to use it ill than to do nothing, and that a child ill taught is further from virtue than a child who has learnt nothing at all. You are afraid to see him spending his early years doing nothing. What! Is it nothing to be happy, nothing to run and jump all day? He will never be so busy again all his life long. Plato, in his Republic, which is considered so stern, teaches the children only through festivals, games, songs, and amusements. It seems as if he had accomplished his purpose when he taught them to be happy; and Seneca, speaking of the Roman lads in olden days, says, ‘They were always on their feet, they were never taught anything which kept them sitting.’ Were they any the worse for it in manhood? Do not be afraid, therefore, of this so-called idleness. What would you think of a man who refused to sleep lest he should waste part of his life? You would say, ‘He is mad; he is not enjoying his life, he is robbing himself of part of it; to avoid sleep he is hastening his death.’ Remember that these two cases are alike, and that childhood is the sleep of reason. The apparent ease with which children learn is their ruin. You fail to see that this very facility proves that they are not learning. Their shining, polished brain reflects, as in a mirror, the things you show them, but nothing sinks in. The child remembers the words and the ideas are reflected back; his hearers understand them, but to him they are meaningless. Although memory and reason are wholly different faculties, the one does not really develop apart from the other. Before the age of reason the child receives images, not ideas; and there is this difference between them: images are merely the pictures of external objects, while ideas are notions about those objects determined by their relations.

            
                

            

            from Emile by Jean-Jacques Rousseau, 1762

         

      

   


   
      
         
            
Preface


         

         James Bulger is buried at Kirkdale Cemetery in Liverpool, which is just about midway between Kirkby, where he lived, and Walton, where he was killed by two ten-year-old boys, Jon Venables and Robert Thompson, in February 1993. At his death he was a month short of his third birthday. When I last visited the grave in the early spring of 1996 the substantial white headstone had been inlaid with James’s photograph – an enduring image of a cherubic son, all blond hair and toothy grin. The inscription betrayed nothing of his fate: ‘Goodnight and God bless, little innocent babe.’ The plot and surrounding area were scattered with toys and flowers, one bouquet left with a card signed ‘From a father in Reading: The pain of mourning never goes, the reason for your loss, only God knows.’

         God knows, indeed, why James Bulger died. It is as true now as it was then that the murder has never really been explained and the motive for the crime remains a mystery. This book, the result of considerable research and a painstaking, sometimes distressing assembly of the facts, was my attempt to offer some insight and understanding.

         I had gone to Liverpool within a few weeks of the murder, rented a small house there for the duration and soon found myself at the heart of the case, well connected to some of the participants. The Sleep of Reason was first published a year later in 1994 and, such was the interest in this case, it went on to be reproduced in numerous editions and translations around the world.

         By that spring of 1996, when I went to pay homage at the cemetery, I was getting ready to write a lengthy new magazine article. I was still in contact with Ann Thompson, the mother  of Robert, who was then three years into his detention and still only thirteen years old. Ann had knitted bonnets – helmets, she called them – for my newborn daughter, whom I had brought to see her. As we sat talking in her home, the phone rang and it was Robert calling from his secure unit. Ann told him I was there and offered me the phone to speak to him. I held up a flat hand in refusal – that conversation would have got both of us into trouble – and later, when I dropped Ann at the unit for a visit she pointed out the distant figure of Robert, who stood watching from a window.

         When my article appeared it described something of Ann’s life – she would often sit watching television clips of Denise Bulger, the mother of the victim, which she had recorded on video. She would imagine going on television herself, setting the world to rights, saying things that really were better left unsaid – ‘If that child had been wearing reins this would never have happened’ was one – and generally letting everyone know how much she cared for and believed in her son and was suffering on his behalf. Ann Thompson had suffered a lot over the years and felt all that suffering acutely.

         She had left Liverpool and was living with her family under an assumed name, but she went about in a state of perpetual dread at being unmasked – the guilt and fear were so powerful they seemed visible to her. I said it was as if she felt she had a neon sign on her head: Mother of Bulger Killer. Missing her home, she would become maudlin, listening to Daniel O’Donnell songs such as ‘The Leaving of Liverpool’, and reminded herself of her old life by cooking scouse, which I described as a one-pot dish made with cheap cuts of meat. I also referred to Ann’s VHS player as a ‘tired old video recorder’. She was upset and thought I had patronised her and, after a difficult phone call our contact came to an end. It was a tricky relationship and, perhaps because I liked and respected her in spite of everything, I had often worried that I was simply exploiting her for my journalism. I knew that Ann was always grateful and relieved not to be judged by the people she met and I could see from the start that her own wretched childhood had left her vulnerable and poorly prepared to become a caring adult.

         But, of course, the case had provoked a great deal of judgement, not just of Ann and the parents of Jon Venables but of their sons, too. From the beginning I had tried to encourage the view that James Bulger’s murder was a tragedy for three families, but that was not how most people thought, and both politicians and the media seemed keen to exacerbate the furore it had caused. Some police officers would claim to have looked into Robert and Jon’s eyes and seen evil lurking there. (Probably they were looking at fear and trauma in two small children.) The Sun newspaper printed a coupon which over 20,000 readers took the trouble to cut out and complete and post to the then Home Secretary, Michael Howard: ‘Dear Home Secretary, I agree with Ralph and Denise Bulger that the boys who killed their son James should stay in jail for life.’

         In fact, as I later discovered, life was not long enough for Howard: he had wanted them to serve a tariff – a minimum sentence – of twenty years, which was two lifetimes for ten-year-olds. He was restrained by advisers and instead set the tariff at fifteen years, still nearly double the recommendation of the trial judge, who had said that eight years would do. Howard’s mistake – and his undoing – was to admit that he had taken note of Sun readers in reaching his decision. In late 1999 the European Court of Human Rights concluded that he had been wrong to take public opinion into account. The decision should have been left to the judiciary.

         The European Court also concluded that the two boys’ human rights had been infringed by putting them on trial in an adult court – Preston Crown Court – in October 1993. They were so very clearly too young to cope with such a traumatic experience, on top of the horrors of their crime. But compassion for them was in short supply. Both boys would recall the feeling of being stared at in court: Venables had counted in his head to avoid listening, while Thompson had determined never to betray his feelings to those around him during the trial.

         I would later learn just how disturbing it has been for Jon Venables, who asked his parents if they thought James was in the courtroom too. No, his mother had told him, James was in heaven. Venables then asked if they thought James could hear what was being said in the courtroom. At the end of each day in court he had taken his clothes off, saying he could ‘smell the baby’ on them or ‘could smell James like a baby smell’. He wanted the clothes he had worn in court thrown away when the case was over. Venables’ remorse was so great that he imagined a baby James growing inside him, waiting to be reborn.

         Throughout the trial the two boys’ identities were protected by court order; they were known simply as Child A and Child B. Following their conviction, the judge succumbed to media pressure and agreed they could be named – a decision that had far-reaching implications the judge could not have foreseen. Had he been able to, he might have taken a different decision. The boys’ lawyers have since argued that the naming of them greatly added to their trauma. It also gave focus, and impetus, to the public mood for vengeance, and helped to create a very real threat to their lives, in perpetuity.

         As the years progressed through their sentences, I would often hear of people who claimed to have encountered them in secure units up and down the country. A friend training to be a probation officer had a lecturer who had met one of them in Devon. Someone else had met one of them in Essex. They were here, there and everywhere. It was a kind of absurd sideshow, born of their notoriety, I suppose. But as I well knew, they had never actually gone anywhere. Venables had been sent to Red Bank in Newton-le-Willows after he was charged, Thompson had been taken to Barton Moss in Greater Manchester, and that was where they remained, every night for the next eight years.

         They started out as the youngest members of their enclosed communities and ended up the eldest, serving far longer sentences than everyone else, kept on beyond the normal time at which they might have been expected to be transferred to Young Offenders’ Institutions. YOIs are tougher establishments and there were rumours that staff and inmates couldn’t wait to get their hands on Thompson and Venables. Staying put, they were apparently transformed from frightened, disturbed children into functioning young adults. They achieved GCSEs and enjoyed graduated mobility, making escorted trips back into the world where they had the chance to compensate for the lack of freedom that might otherwise have meant they could never have the opportunity to lead normal lives. Still, at the time of their release neither Thompson nor Venables had ever made an unaccompanied trip on a bus or bought something in a shop.

         The European Court judgment meant they could be freed in 2001 and a series of parole hearings took place with initial assessments for both boys that February, followed by longer hearings six months later. There was some alarm over Thompson when a psychologist claimed to have found evidence of psychopathic personality traits during testing of him. The tests were meant to be done on adults but the results could not be ignored and a new expert report was called for. It echoed an additional concern that Thompson had manipulated the long-term relationship with the psychiatrist who had worked with him during his time at Barton Moss. Thompson had so persuaded her of his anxiety at being betrayed to the media that she never wrote down anything but the barest details of their sessions. As the psychiatrist might have anticipated, this was setting up a serious problem, both for her professional credibility and Thompson’s future release. In the absence of in-depth reports, what were the parole board supposed to work with as evidence of Thompson’s redemption and understanding and remorse for his crime?

         The new expert was very thorough and Thompson was now more open. The expert dismissed any suggestion that Thompson was a psychopath but at the same time he talked Thompson through the offence and gave an interpretive account of how and why James Bulger died which has a ring of authenticity about it. The psychologist appeared to agree with the manager of Barton Moss, who described Thompson as one of the most normally adjusted people in his circumstances. Thompson had never shown any trait of dishonesty and had never, despite occasional opportunities at the unit, abused alcohol or drugs. In eight years he had never needed to be significantly disciplined or punished.

         Thompson was described in the new report as a child who had learnt to disengage emotionally as a result of earlier traumas, in particular his father leaving home when he was six, but also the violence he had seen at home before and after – especially the sight of his mother lying injured after being attacked by his father, when he was unable to go to her out of fear of his father. With his father gone and his mother struggling to cope, Thompson found himself among a pack of like-minded children in similar circumstances, going shoplifting, truanting, vandalising and breaking into cars. There was never a chosen victim for these crimes, never a plan, never any violence. There was a group dynamic or proposals idly adopted, and a kind of obligation to act on the impulses of the others. Thompson, on his own account, said he only went home when it was late and he hoped the house was asleep. He was ‘an urban feral child’.

         Although the psychologist’s report was about Thompson, there were clear parallels with Venables, who had problems at home with conflict between his parents, siblings with learning difficulties, bullying by his peers and a wider family context of domestic violence and alcohol abuse. Thompson always maintained it was Venables who said, on the way to the Strand shopping centre in Bootle on 12 February 1993: ‘Let’s get a kid lost.’ There was no other premeditation. Thompson claimed he was not interested but went along with the abduction of James Bulger and didn’t do anything to stop it, and so accepted his own full responsibility for the crime, even though he could not clearly remember everything that happened.

         There was increasing tension after the abduction as they could not decide what to do with the child and did not know how to ‘get rid’ of the child without being found out. The child’s distress increased the tension and fear between them. The final assault – the killing of James on the railway line at Walton with stones and sticks and paint and a heavy metal ‘fishplate’ – had been ‘a chaotic destruction’ of the source of the boys’ fear. The psychologist likened those moments to the climax of the novel Lord of the Flies, ‘where one troublesome child is objectified or dehumanised by the others and then killed in a frenzied attack’. This was just a hypothesis, but if it was right it could have been triggered by the unusual combination of those two boys being together, being poorly socialised, having no sense of responsibility for inhibiting the behaviour of the other, and being able to ‘emotionally disengage’ because of their past experiences.

         The psychologist noted comments from staff at Barton Moss about the limited feedback from his therapy sessions and the way Thompson had set the terms of his therapy. This had resulted in staff hearing nothing further when one of them had passed on to the therapist a disclosure from Thompson that he had been sexually abused in childhood. Neither the psychologist nor the staff at Barton Moss knew anything more about the abuse, but those references to it in the psychologist’s report obliged the therapist and Thompson to describe it to the parole board.

         Meanwhile, although it was not a race, all the indications appeared to be that Venables had made even swifter advances towards rehabilitation. In 1997 his therapist could say he had made exceptional progress in both his personal development and acknowledgment of the enormity of his offence. Around the same time, staff at Red Bank reported that he had become a role model for others in the unit and he had matured into an amiable young man. His recent behaviour had been exemplary. That fitted the widely held view of the two co-murderers, that Thompson was the more thuggish and likely ringleader and Venables the innocent led astray. I had always thought that was a complete misreading of what we knew. If anything, it was the other way around and Venables had seemed to me to be the more disturbed of the pair.

         But by now there was a consensus that Venables posed a low risk or no risk at all to the public, although it was also recognised that the shame and remorse he felt at his crime would be with him for ever. So while Thompson was wrestling with his past as a victim of abuse, Venables appeared to be gliding towards a viable future. The two were released in June 2001 and both lived in semi-independent units specially prepared for them in the grounds of the secure units, before moving to live with full independence, some time later. They both took on assumed names and lived with the protection of a far-reaching injunction put in place at the High Court by Dame Elizabeth Butler-Sloss, largely in response to plausible evidence that there were people who would like to find them and kill them or, at the very least, cause them harm.

         As we later learned, Jon Venables’ new identity required intensive policing and a year to set up, at a cost of over £250,000. He needed everything from passports to examination certificates and medical records – not even his GP knew who he really was. A ‘legacy life’ – a false past – had to be created for him, and presumably for Thompson too. It is hard to imagine how difficult it must be to live within such a phoney construct. The pressure, you have to conclude, must be immense. In 2006 I wrote that both young men had been living quiet settled lives over the five years since their release. How little I knew. Unbeknown to anyone, including his army of minders reaching right into the heart of government, Jon Venables had terrible unresolved problems – issues I now believe he must have kept hidden throughout his time in custody – and was descending into a life of chaos and criminality.

         In the first place, as I disclosed in an article in the Sunday Times Magazine in 2011, Venables is believed to have had a brief sexual relationship with a female member of staff at Red Bank, not long before his release. This was, at the least, an abuse of power by the woman, and appears to have reflected an unstable period at Red Bank with poor management being recorded during inspections. Such an incident must have had a profound effect on Venables who, as was observed by his psychiatrist, had been through an abnormal psychosexual development during his adolescence, never free to explore his sexuality as other young men would in the outside world. You wonder, though, at the extent to which that incident shaped the offence that took him back to prison in February 2010, after a long period of instability and increasing abuse of drugs and alcohol.

         Venables had seemed settled at first, after his release, under close supervision by the probation service. Both he and Thompson were subject to strict conditions of release, preventing them from visiting Merseyside and associating with children. Venables studied and later worked, but he began to struggle with debt and isolation. Significantly, he spent a lot of time alone on the Internet. His probation officer wondered what games he was playing. In fact, for at least two years before his recall to prison he had been collecting videos and still images of child pornography and in some cases sharing them. Some of the images were among the most obscene available. He had also masqueraded on the Internet as a mother who, together with her husband, was abusing her child and now offering the child for sale to others to abuse. He had expressed a specific interest in looking at images of parents abusing their own children.

         How he managed to behave like that for at least two years, while supposedly being one of the most closely supervised individuals ever freed on life licence, has never been fully explained. An investigation into the whole affair, by former civil servant Sir David Omand, seemed superficial and all too ready to blame Venables himself. Others ought to have been culpable too, especially when so many warning signs were missed.

         Venables admitted the child pornography offences and received a two-year prison sentence. He became eligible for parole, once more, in July 2011, by which time his new identity had allegedly been widely disclosed on the Internet: another burden, in addition to the honest talking he will have been obliged to do, finally, in relation to his paedophile activities. It now seems probable that, like his co-accused Robert Thompson, Jon Venables may have been the victim of child sexual abuse before the murder of James Bulger.

         But that is not something known or proven. Like so much about this case, it exists only in the realms of speculation and, I like to think, emphasises the importance of continuing to review and examine one of the most significant crimes in modern history.

         David James Smith,

September 2011

      

   


   
      
         
            
Introduction


         

         The first time I met Albert Kirby, the officer who led the investigation into the killing of James Bulger, I said that it was not a unique case. He said it was unique: the two boys were the youngest ever to have been accused of murder. He had never encountered anything like it, and hoped he never would again.

         Albert was articulating the mood of the moment and a sentiment that was widely shared. A unique case born of a lawless generation. It was a symbol of the age, of declining standards, loss of values, lack of respect, breakdown of the family, too many single mothers, failure of the Welfare State, collapse of society, moral vacuum … moral panic.

         If the boys were guilty, what had possessed them to commit such a terrible crime? Were they evil, born bad, led on by adults, influenced by violence on television, desensitising computer games, video nasties? Were they playing a game that went wrong, were they lords of the flies acting out the wickedness of children (the latent cruelty in us all), or were they just plain possessed? These theories were offered less as speculation than as statements of fact. Many people, it seemed, needed to explain James Bulger’s death to themselves and to others. And if there was no ready explanation, what then?

         Only two people can provide an understanding. Barely eleven years old now, they are unlikely to be able to do this for many years, and unlikely to achieve such an understanding without psychiatric help.

         Such limited research as exists in this area suggests that most young people who commit serious crimes – murder, manslaughter, rape, arson – have one thing in common. They have been abused physically or sexually, or both, and emotionally, in childhood. Not all young people who commit serious crimes have been abused. And not all young people who have been abused commit serious crimes. But the pattern is there.

         Many people find this idea risible or lame. They detect the making of excuses. They think kids pretend they’ve been beaten to get off the hook. A good slap never did them any harm. Anyone who has seen or experienced the effects of this kind of abuse, or spent time observing and listening to young offenders, will not be so dismissive.

         Perhaps it is not the two boys who are unhappy products of the television age, but the global audience that watched the security video footage of the child’s abduction and were provoked by unprecedented media coverage to unprecedented reactions of shock and horror.

         The sad truth is that similar cases have happened in Britain in recent times, in not so recent times, and long, long ago. Children have killed, periodically, in the past and who then attributed the killings to wider social ills, or took them to be an emblem of decay? Where was the national debate? What Prime Minister of the day stood to declare, as John Major did in February 1993, that ‘We must condemn a little more, and understand a little less’?

         By way of recovering a perspective, this book begins with a catalogue of all the British cases I have been able to find of killings, or alleged killings, by children. With the exception of the first boy, the last child to be hanged, all were under the age of fourteen. The older records are the fruit of someone else’s research: in 1973 Patrick Wilson, spurred on perhaps by the Mary Bell case, wrote Children Who Kill, a book long since out of print. The more recent examples I found filed in the news library of the Sunday Times.

         The age of criminal responsibility in Britain was fixed at ten years by the 1963 revision of the Children and Young Persons Act. When implemented 30 years earlier, this Act had raised the minimum age to eight from seven, at which it had been fixed since the middle ages.

         The law has also determined that a child becomes a young person on his or her fourteenth birthday. Between the ages of ten and fourteen children are presumed to be doli incapax, which literally means incapable of doing wrong. In practice, this means that the law presumes they are unable to understand the seriousness of their actions. To obtain a conviction the prosecution must rebut this presumption, proving to the court’s satisfaction that the child would have known the action to be seriously wrong, and not just mischievous or naughty.

         
            *

         

         In March 1831 John Any Bird Bell, aged fourteen, robbed and cut the throat of a thirteen-year-old boy who was collecting money for his father. Tried at Maidstone, Bell was found guilty of murder after two minutes’ discussion by the jury, who did not leave the box. The jury made a recommendation for mercy, on account of the dreadful state of ignorance he was in and the barbarous manner in which he had been brought up by his parents. The judge said it was his imperative duty to pass the death sentence. Bell was sentenced on a Friday and hanged on the Monday morning, outside Maidstone Gaol. Before he dropped, Bell cried, ‘All you people take heed by me!’ This to the crowd of 5000 who had come to see him go. There were 52 hangings in Britain that year. Bell was the last child to be hanged.

         The earliest recorded killing by a child under the age of fourteen was in 1748, when William York, aged ten, was living in a Suffolk workhouse and sharing a bed with a five-year-old girl. He cut the girl with a knife and a billhook after she had fouled the bed, and stated in his confession that the devil put him up to committing the deed. Found guilty of murder and sentenced to death, York was granted a Royal pardon on condition that he enlist immediately in the Navy.

         In 1778 at Huntingdon three girls aged eight, nine and ten were tried for the murder of a three-year-old girl. It was said that ‘the manner in which they committed this act was by fixing three pins at the end of a stick, which they thrust into the child’s body, which lacerated the private parts and soon turned to a mortification of which she languished for a few days and then died’. The girls were found to be doli incapax and acquitted.

         In 1847 in Hackney, a twelve-year-old, William Allnut Brown, stole ten sovereigns from his home, fired a gun near his grandfather, then poisoned the old man with his own arsenic. Brown was said to be a sickly and difficult boy. He was charged with murder and found guilty by the jury despite a plea of insanity. He was sentenced to death but reprieved.

         In 1854, Alice Levick, aged ten, was living with an aunt and caring for the aunt’s baby. She was sent on an errand with the baby to collect some knives and forks. When found by a group of men, she was crying and carrying the baby, whose throat had been cut. She said a stranger had come up behind her in the woods and killed the baby. The inquest jury returned a verdict of wilful murder by Levick, but she was acquitted at her subsequent trial.

         In 1855, in Liverpool, nine small boys were playing ‘cap on back’, a kind of leapfrog, in a brickfield. There was an argument over fair play between Alfred Fitz, aged nine, and a seven-year-old. Fitz hit the other boy with a half-brick. When he fell down, Fitz hit him again. Fitz called to John Breen, also aged nine, ‘Let’s throw him into the canal, or else we’ll be cotched.’ They carried the seven-year-old 40 yards to the Leeds–Liverpool Canal and threw him in, while the others watched. They all stood there until the boy disappeared. The body was found four days later in Stanley Dock. Fitz and Breen were tried for murder at Liverpool Crown Court. They were found guilty of manslaughter and sentenced to twelve months at Liverpool Gaol where, the judge said, they would have a schoolmaster and a chaplain to instruct them, and be taught to earn their living.

         In 1861, near Stockport, a two-year-old disappeared while playing near his home. His body was found the next day, a mile away in a field near Love Lane, face down in a brook and naked except for his clogs. A woman said she had seen two boys aged about eight walking with a child who was crying. One of the boys had been leading the child by the hand. She had asked them where they were going, and they had said they were going down Love Lane. Another woman had seen them in the field, when the child was naked. She asked what they were doing with the child undressed, but they ignored her and moved away. Her son said he saw one of the boys hit the child with a twig.

         James Bradley and Peter Barratt, both aged eight, were interviewed by a police officer. They admitted undressing the child, pushing him into the water and hitting him with sticks until he was dead. They referred to the child only as ‘it’. At Chester Assizes they became the youngest children to have faced a murder trial and the death sentence. Defence counsel said, ‘it must have happened in boyish mischief, they being unable to know right from wrong’. They were found guilty of manslaughter and sentenced to one month in gaol, and five years in a reformatory.

         In 1861, in County Durham, John Little, aged twelve and employed to do odd jobs at a farm, shot a young woman housekeeper with his master’s shotgun after an argument. He was charged with manslaughter, but acquitted on evidence that he did not understand firearms.

         In 1881, in Carlisle, a thirteen-year-old girl was employed by a farming family to look after their three children. The two-year-old drowned suddenly, without explanation, and, not long after, the family’s baby drowned in some mud. At first the girl claimed a man had snatched the baby from her, but eventually she admitted, ‘I took the baby and put it in and nobody helped me.’ She was charged with murder and found guilty, with a recommendation to mercy. The death sentence was passed, then commuted to life imprisonment. No charge was ever brought over the death of the two-year-old.

         In 1920, in London, a boy aged seven told a child he would drown him if the child did not hand over his toy aeroplane. When the child refused the boy pushed him into the canal and kicked his hands away while he tried to climb up the bank, until he drowned. The inquest returned a verdict of accidental death, and the truth only emerged later, when the boy was sent to a psychologist for the treatment of rages. There was no trial, and the boy was placed in care.

         In 1921, in Redbourn, Hertfordshire, a boy aged thirteen beat his next-door neighbour to death with a hammer and a poker, while trying to steal money from her home. He climbed into a well to drown himself, but changed his mind and climbed out again. He was found guilty of murder and sentenced to be detained at His Majesty’s pleasure.

         In 1938 a four-year-old girl disappeared while playing near her home. Her body was found the following morning in the conservatory of the house next door by the widowed mother of five children who lived there. The girl had been sexually assaulted and strangled. The widow’s 13-year-old son was questioned and denied involvement until his mother told him to tell the truth. He then admitted telling the girl to undress, and strangling her when she began to cry. He was said to be ‘retarded’ and a frequent truant. The trial considered whether or not the boy knew that what he was doing was ‘seriously and gravely wrong’. He was acquitted, and placed in an Approved School.

         In 1947, in a Welsh mining village, a four-year-old boy disappeared while out playing, and was found later that evening, drowned in the nearby river, his hands and ankles bound together. Three weeks after the killing, the boy’s nine-year-old playmate was questioned by police and said, ‘I tied him up with the cords of his shoes and threw him off the manhole into the river and he was drowned. I went home and was afraid to tell anyone.’ When charged, he replied, ‘I won’t do it again.’ He was acquitted of murder but found guilty of manslaughter, and ordered to be detained for ten years.

         In 1947, in a Northern coastal town, a woman left her baby in a pram outside her husband’s shop while she was serving. When the pram and baby disappeared, a search was made and the baby was found drowned in a water-filled pit. A nine-year-old boy was questioned and admitted, ‘I took the pram from outside the shop. There was a baby in the pram and I threw it in the water. I just wanted to do it.’ The boy pleaded not guilty to murder but guilty of manslaughter, and was ordered to be detained for a maximum of five years.

         In 1961, in a West London suburb, a twelve-year-old boy killed his 53-year-old mother with a knife after an argument, allegedly over a bacon sandwich. The boy was the youngest of three and home life was said to be ‘not entirely happy’. His parents had separated and reunited. At the time of the killing, his father, a taxi driver, was in hospital. Mother and son were said to quarrel frequently because of the boy’s violent temper. He was allowed to plead not guilty to murder and guilty to manslaughter, and was placed in the care of his local authority.

         In 1967, in Crewe, a boy of ten was charged with murder after the stabbing of another ten-year-old boy in a school playground. The result of this charge is unknown. In Wakefield, a boy aged twelve was sentenced to seven years’ detention after pleading not guilty to murder but guilty of the manslaughter of a seven-year-old he drowned in a stream.

         In 1968, in Islington, the coroner recorded a verdict of accidental death on a seven-month-old baby which had been battered to death. A pair of earrings were found in the baby’s eyes. The coroner said that two brothers, aged four and three, would have faced trial for murder if they had been older.

         In 1968, in Newcastle, Mary Bell, aged eleven, and Norma Bell, aged thirteen, a neighbour but no relation, faced trial for the murder of a boy aged four and another boy aged three, whom they were accused of strangling. The first boy had been killed the day before Mary Bell’s eleventh birthday, the second two months later. Both girls pleaded not guilty to murder but, after hearing their evidence at the trial, the jury found Norma not guilty and Mary guilty of manslaughter on the grounds of diminished responsibility. Mary Bell was sentenced to detention for life. She was released in 1980, a week before her 23rd birthday, refusing at the time to change her name. She is now the mother of a ten-year-old child, living under a new name, with an injunction preventing its publication.

         In 1972, in South Yorkshire, an eleven-year-old boy pleaded not guilty to the murder of a six-year-old he was said to have drowned. The accused was said to have suffered ‘organic brain damage’, and was acquitted after the judge directed the jury not to convict unless they were sure the boy knew that what he was doing was wrong. In Dundee, a girl aged thirteen was found guilty of killing a three-year-old girl she had suffocated while the child was in her care. She was sentenced to be detained for ten years.

         In 1973, in Portsmouth, a boy aged twelve stabbed his mother and pleaded guilty to manslaughter. He was freed by the court after evidence that he had been under pressure from his parents over his schoolwork. He was placed on a three-year supervision order at his boarding school.

         In 1973, in Liverpool, an eleven-year-old boy pleaded guilty to the manslaughter of a two-year-old child. He had hit the boy accidentally while throwing stones. Too scared to take him home, he held the child down in a pool of rainwater until he drowned. The boy was placed in the care of the local authority.

         In 1975, in Sheffield, a thirteen-year-old boy beat an elderly woman to death with an iron bar. The boy lived near the woman, and sometimes ran errands for her. He had entered her flat to steal money for fireworks. He pleaded guilty to murder and was sentenced to be detained during Her Majesty’s pleasure.

         In 1975, in east London, a boy of thirteen pleaded not guilty to the murder of a two-year-old girl, and the attempted murder of her five-year-old sister. He had stabbed the girls while they watched television alone in their flat. He told the police he was always getting the blame for teaching the girls to swear. He was found guilty of manslaughter and attempted murder, and sentenced to be detained for fourteen years.

         In 1976, in Dunfermline, a thirteen-year-old boy stabbed and strangled a twelve-year-old girl. He later said he had joined the girl while she was fishing, believing her to be a boy. After urinating in some bushes, in full view of the girl, he had discovered she was female, and attacked her in anger and embarrassment. The boy admitted the murder and was ordered to be detained during Her Majesty’s pleasure.

         In 1977, in Peckham, a twelve-year-old boy was the youngest of four people who attacked and killed a homeless man in a derelict house. One teenager was convicted of manslaughter, and the other three defendants were found guilty of murder. The twelve-year-old boy was ordered to be detained indefinitely.

         In 1978, in Wolverhampton, two boys aged four and six were alleged to have beaten to death an 84-year-old woman who lived alone in a flat. They were said to be among a group of local children who had previously been pestering and taunting the woman in her home. They were too young to face criminal charges.

         In 1979, in Leicester, a nine-year-old boy admitted to police that he had killed his eight-month-old sister by attacking her with a penknife and a ballpoint pen as she lay in her cot. The boy was too young to face criminal charges.

         In 1982, in Birkenhead, a boy aged nine killed a twelve-year-old boy who died after a single stab wound during an argument in the street near their homes. The nine-year-old said the stabbing was accidental. Although this was disputed at the inquest, the coroner recorded an open verdict after declaring that the twelve-year-old had been unlawfully killed. The nine-year-old boy was too young to face criminal charges.

         In 1986, in Sussex, a girl aged five was with a friend when she allegedly took a three-week-old baby from his pram and swung the baby by his legs against a wall. The baby was killed, but the girls were too young to face criminal charges.

         In 1988, in Borehamwood, a twelve-year-old boy abducted a two-year-old girl from a playground and walked her just over a mile to a railway embankment where he pushed her face into soft ground until she suffocated. They had been seen by a total of seventeen people during the 40-minute walk following the abduction. The boy had no history of violence and no previous convictions. His parents were separated, and he was in care at the time of the offence. He was convicted of the abduction and killing of the child, and ordered to be detained during Her Majesty’s pleasure.

         In 1990, in Glasgow, a twelve-year-old boy drowned a three-year-old child after beating his head against stones in a stream. The boy was said to have come from a ‘fairly sad’ family background. Cleared of murder but found guilty of culpable homicide, he was ordered to be detained indefinitely.

         In 1992, in Northumberland, an eleven-year-old girl killed the eighteen-month-old child she was babysitting. When the baby would not stop crying, the girl beat him against the bars of his cot, and then suffocated the child by placing her hand over his mouth and nose. The girl was convicted of manslaughter.
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         Jon was late leaving for school. His mother was hurrying him out of the door a few minutes before nine, checking he’d got the note she’d written for the teacher in which she asked if it would be all right for Jon to bring the gerbils home for next week’s half-term holiday.

         Now, Jon headed for the walkways under the flyover. He vanished into the bushes in the middle of the roundabout, re-emerging without his school bag, the black one with red stripes on the handle that usually contained his wildlife books, his wrestling magazines and his PE kit. The bushes were Jon’s preferred hiding place for the bag.

         He met Bobby at the top of the village, by the church. Bobby was with his kid brother, Ryan. He had already called for Gummy Gee, who was staying off school with a belly ache. Gummy told Bobby he’d got the runs.

         Jon and Bobby didn’t say much to each other.

         ‘You sagging?’

         ‘Yeah.’

         Ryan didn’t want to sag. He wanted to go to school. Yesterday Jon had offered him two quid if he would sag today, but Ryan wasn’t having any of it. He wanted to go to school. Friday was pottery day, and Ryan liked pottery. So they left him to make his own way down Bedford Road, and Jon and Bobby disappeared down the entries to avoid being spotted as they passed the school.

         They were seen anyway by their 5R classmate Nicola. She told Miss Rigg, who marked two red circles by their names in the register, and mentioned the boys’ apparent truancy to the head teacher on the way to assembly.

         Last night, after the pupils had gone home, Miss Rigg had moved Jon’s desk to the back of the class. He had been particularly awkward yesterday, the worst she’d ever seen him, in fact; fidgety and excitable, as if barely able to contain himself, while the class made electrical circuits with batteries and light bulbs. She had remarked on it to her colleagues and had determined to do better with him today.

         After assembly the head teacher, Irene Slack, spoke to Nicola, who confirmed that she had seen Jon and Bobby down an entry by the off licence, running in the opposite direction to school. Miss Slack called the Education Welfare Office, and tried to phone Jon’s mother. No answer.

         Jon and Bobby were on their way down Breeze Hill and out of Walton, past the reservoir, the Mons pub, Smiley’s Tyre and Exhaust Centre, straight on to Merton Road and into the heart of Bootle, crossing Stanley Road, over the canal and round the back to the Strand entrance by the bus terminal. It was about two miles.

         As they went along, they talked about robbing and sagging. Jon wondered what would happen if they got caught by a teacher or a policeman. Bobby said they’d probably end up in the police station.

         They were both in school uniform, or most of it. Black trousers, white shirt, grey V-necked jumper, blue and yellow striped tie. Both boys were wearing their brogies. Bobby was wearing his black jacket with the green trim and the blue patches. Jon’s jacket was mustard-coloured and plain, and not long bought from Dunn’s.

         Jon had a bowl ’ead haircut, Bobby a Number 2 crop, straight through with the shears. Jon was four feet and eight inches tall. Bobby was shorter by two inches. They were both ten years old, their birthdays two weeks apart in August.

         
            *

         

         When the shop assistant in Clinton Cards noticed the uniforms, she called out from behind the till. Bobby and Jon stood there, looking at the extensive selection of trolls on display. Bobby, who liked trolls, would have robbed one or two, if he could.

         ‘You off school then?’

         ‘Yeah, it’s Baker’s Day,’ Bobby said.

         ‘Do you mean Inset Day?’

         ‘No. Half-term.’

         What school did they go to? St Mary’s. Where was that? Walton. At this, Jon gave Bobby a stamp with his foot. ‘We’re with our mum,’ said Bobby, and with that they left the card shop.

         Bobby stole a toy soldier from Superdrug. It was a clockwork sniper, which slithered along the floor when wound up. Bobby took it on the escalators, and tried to make it crawl along the rubber handrail. When the sniper fell or was thrown down on the escalating steps, a woman shopper told them off. They should be more careful. The escalator might get jammed. Bobby and Jon ignored her.

         The woman was sitting on a bench outside Boots a few minutes later, waiting for her mother-in-law, when she saw Bobby and Jon again. They were walking out of the Strand’s department store, TJ Hughes, followed by a small child. They were all laughing, the two older boys running forward, stopping and turning as the child ran towards them laughing. The woman watched as the child’s mother appeared, in a bit of a panic as she called her son back and scolded him. The two older boys just seemed to melt away.

         Bobby and Jon had left the escalator and gone into TJ Hughes, lurking round the bag counters, trying to rob the rucksacks, gloves and bumbags.

         
            *

         

         Mrs Power had been shopping with her three-year-old daughter and her two-year-old son. Mrs Power had been looking at sweatshirts; nearby, her two children turned their attention to the purses on display. She noticed the two boys, Bobby and Jon, kneeling there too, opening and closing purses as if playing with her children.

         When she had chosen a sweatshirt, Mrs Power went to collect her children. She overheard Jon say, ‘Thommo, take one of these.’ Bobby was still kneeling by the purses. Both froze as she approached and took her two children to the till.

         There was a queue at the till, and Mrs Power’s children wandered off again. Mrs Power retrieved them again, and yet again they wandered off. The daughter reappeared on her own.

         ‘Where’s your brother?’

         ‘Gone outside with the boys.’

         Mrs Power checked the purse counter before going to the store entrance, where she saw her son, a few yards in front of her, walking towards Bobby and Jon. Jon stood by one of the Strand’s mirrored posts, beckoning the lad to him.

         Mrs Power shouted, and her son stopped. ‘Go back to your mum,’ Jon said, and he went. While Mrs Power gave him a scolding, Jon and Bobby crossed into Mothercare. Camera 8 of the Strand’s closed-circuit television security system recorded them there, at 12.34.34.
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         Ralph and Denise Bulger usually went to bed late, and got up late in the morning. Last night had been no different. Their two-year-old son, James, had fallen asleep on the settee just before midnight, and they had left him there until Ralph picked him up at about half past one, when they all went to bed.

         Denise, who was 25, liked to keep James by her side. She was the first to concede that she was very protective. Not long before their Register Office marriage three years ago, the couple’s first pregnancy had resulted in the stillbirth of a baby daughter they remembered as Kirsty. They had been together three years when Ralph proposed, on the day the pregnancy was lost. Denise reasoned that it was this loss which had made her so over- attached to James. She did not like him going out with her relatives or friends, and did not want him to go to playschool. He went to bed when she did, and got up when his mother got up.

         On Friday morning, the Bulgers were awake and out of bed at about 10.30. Denise was washing in the bathroom and James followed her in, wanting the loo. She organised his breakfast, a bowl of Frosties, and he sat eating them by the fire in the living room with his father.

         When they all left the one-bedroomed maisonette at midday, Denise was, as usual, on her way to her mother’s with James. Ralph walked with them through Kirkby, but carried on to visit Denise’s brother, Paul. At 26, Ralph was one of the long-term unemployed. He reckoned he’d been on seventeen training and job creation schemes, not one of which had created a job. Today he was giving Paul a hand putting some furniture together. Ralph, as he sometimes said, was a jack of all trades, a jobber without a job. He could do anything – given the opportunity.

         Denise’s mum was out, but one of Denise’s sisters was there and the television was on, showing Neighbours. James played with the sister’s daughter, Antonia, as a succession of relatives passed in and out. Denise was the second youngest of thirteen children, her mother having been one of ten. The core of the family was in Kirkby, and John, Denise, Paul and the others were always in and out of their mother’s home.

         Paul’s partner, Nicola Bailey, was looking after John’s three-year-old, Vanessa, that day. She called in to ask Denise to go with her to the Strand. Nicola wanted to change some underwear at TJ Hughes, but had no baby seat in her car. Denise could help her out by sitting in the back with Vanessa. James always liked the drive in Nicola’s car, so Denise said she’d go along for the ride, and Nicola said she’d pop back in half an hour to collect them.

         At about a quarter past two Nicola, Denise and the two children, settled now in the B Reg., burgundy Ford Orion, drove through Walton and past the prison to the Strand. They parked on the ground floor of the multi-storey car park, went up the steps to cross the bridge, and entered the shopping centre through Woolworths. Camera 16 recorded them there, at 14.30.34.

         Coming out onto the concourse from Woolworths, Denise and Nicola decided to give James and Vanessa a 20p ride on a children’s mechanical seesaw. Then they all went into TJ Hughes so that Nicola could exchange her underwear.

         While she was doing this, Denise could see and hear James and Vanessa playing around inside the store. James went to the door, lost sight of his mum and shouted in fright. Denise went over and picked him up, carrying him as they left the shop.

         James was almost exactly two years and eleven months old. He would be three on 16 March. He had fair skin and light brown, almost blond hair. He had a full set of baby teeth and his eyes were blue, with a tinge of brown in the right eye.

         He was dressed that day in a blue waterproofed, cotton anorak with quilted lining and a hood, which Denise had bought from In Shops in Kirkby. Beneath the anorak was a grey tracksuit, with white stripes down the legs, and beneath the tracksuit was a white T shirt with blue stripes on the back, and green stripes on the front around the word ‘Noddy’. On his feet were a pair of white Puma trainers, and around his neck was a blue woollen scarf with yellow stripes, illustrated with a white cat’s face, and with a white bobble at either end.
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         Jon and Bobby were darting in and out of the shops, pinching here and there, then mostly just throwing the stuff away, to make room in their pockets for the next lot of booty. Bobby was after a boxed troll in TJ Hughes, until a security guard told them to leave. Jon robbed a couple of felt-tipped pens, and left them lying on a display cooker.

         They investigated the computer games and equipment in Tandy, Rumbelows, Dixons and Woolworths. The assistant in Tandy showed Jon some cheats for the Segas and told him how to put songs on the Commodores. They left Tandy with a four-pack of Evergreen AA-sized 1.5v batteries.

         It was no fun in Woolworths, because you couldn’t play with the computers. Jon and Bobby looked at the Thunderbird toys, but Bobby was unimpressed. They were stringy things, he said, and not worth the trouble of thieving.

         Across Stanley Road from the Strand, next, to mess around in MacDonalds and the Bradford and Bingley Building Society next door. The Society’s branch manager asked them what they were doing. Bobby said they were waiting for their mum. When they began clambering over the chairs, the branch manager suggested they go and wait in MacDonalds. Bobby said they’d already been thrown out of there, but Jon said, ‘Come on, let’s go,’ so they left the branch manager in peace and ran down to the Kwikkie to rob some Chocolate Dips and Iced Gems. Back on Stanley Road they again bumped into the branch manager, who was on his way to lunch, and Bobby asked him for 20p. The branch manager said no, and carried on walking.

         They went back into the Strand through Lunn Poly, pausing to pretend they were big holiday spenders, until Jon pinched a pen off the counter and knocked over a stapler, provoking an assistant to order them out.

         Another pen went missing from Rathbones the bakers, just opposite Clinton Cards. The boys were back in the card shop, the assistant watching them carefully this time as they loitered by the trolls, when a middle-aged woman came in.

         ‘Come on, where’s the pen you took off the lady in Rathbones?’

         Bobby tapped his pockets. ‘What pen, I haven’t got a pen.’

         The woman said she’d get the police, so Bobby plucked the pen from his pocket and handed it over. The woman told the assistant to watch those two, and the assistant told Jon and Bobby to leave.

         Round by the main square they started playing with the fire hydrant door on the pillar, opening and closing it as they shouted and laughed. A four-year-old boy approached and asked what they were doing, but was called away by his elder brother.

         Jon said his mouth was dead upset, it was saying it was dying for a drink, so they went into Tesco, where Jon had to empty out his coat to make room for some cartons of yogurt, milk-shake and Ambrosia rice. Bobby got some too. Outside, they sat and ate on some scaffolding.

         There was a stall in the main square of the Strand, set up as part of a mental health campaign to promote awareness of the effects of tranquillisers and sleeping pills. The stall carried a display of books, leaflets and audio cassettes. It attracted the attention of Jon and Bobby, who picked up a book called Back To Life, about the ways to withdraw from tranquillisers.

         The stall was being run by a mother and daughter, who were talking to an elderly woman shopper. When they saw Jon and Bobby, the mother told them to put the book down, that it would be of no interest to them. The boys made a pretend grab at some of the other literature, and the elderly woman told them to get away and stop being so cheeky. You should be in school, she said. Jon and Bobby teased the woman, tapping her on the back and running away as she turned; tap and run, tap and run. When the woman finally struck out, swinging her bag and shouting, they ran off, calling out some abuse which was lost to the woman’s partial deafness.

         Bobby wanted to show Jon the talking troll in Toymaster, but when they got to the shop entrance, they were turned away by an assistant who said they couldn’t come in without their parents. The boys waited, and ran in while she was serving, running out again with some tins of Humbrol enamel paint, Azure Blue and Antique Bronze.

         They began playing football with a tin on the walkway. The tin cracked against the glass shopfronts, and skidded around the feet of the shoppers. The boys retrieved it when it began to spill paint. The other, the Antique Bronze, rolled into the corner by Tym’s the butchers, where it was found by a man who had cycled to the Strand on his bike. He took the paint home, to repair the chip on his Toby jug.
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         Denise had carried James as she walked from TJ Hughes with Nicola and Vanessa, and crossed into Sayers where they bought a sausage roll each for the two children.

         Denise put her son down then, broke the sausage roll in half to make it manageable, and handed it back to James, who ate it as he walked in front of Denise through the centre.

         In Marks and Spencer, James and Vanessa were given a ride round in a shopping trolley, while Nicola bought a few bits of food. Outside Marks, down the slope, James ran off ahead, and an elderly woman had to stop him clambering alone on to the escalator.

         Denise took hold of James, only letting go when they were inside Ethel Austin, the children’s clothing shop, where James was immediately struck by one of the baby suits being thrown down by an assistant standing on a chair. James began laughing and throwing the suits around the shop, and Denise marched him outside, waiting for Nicola and Vanessa.

         James started walking around again, but Denise did not like the look of the scruffily dressed man who was sitting on a bench watching him. She held James’s hand as Nicola and Vanessa came out of Ethel Austin’s, and they all went across to Tesco.

         Now James was on the move, kicking an empty box around, helping himself to some Smarties and a carton of apple juice, and generally making mischief. Denise became self-conscious, thinking everyone must be watching them, and they left after Nicola had bought some sugar.

         James was told off and given a smack on the legs. Nicola went into Superdrug to buy some sweets for Vanessa. This time, Denise stayed outside. Then they turned the corner towards Tym’s the butchers. Camera 10 recorded them there at 15.37.51.

         A. R. Tym’s is a popular butchers, which regularly displays luminous orange signs offering the day’s bargains: Natural Roast Lamb 69 qtr; Nat Honey Roast Ham 69 qtr; Danish Top Quality Bacon Ribs 99 lb; 4 Saus Rolls £1-00; We Do Traditional Cooked Meats For Your Special Occasions.

         It was quieter than usual when Denise and Nicola went in, which was just as well, Denise thought, since James was playing up. She got her money out of her purse, ready to pay for the meat. Nicola, who was holding Vanessa, looked round and saw James at the entrance playing with the butt of a cigarette which was still alight. She turned to the counter to be served as Denise paid up and went out. Then Denise was back in the shop, panicking.

         ‘Where’s James?’

         ‘He’s only just outside,’ said Nicola.
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         Jon and Bobby had finished their skirmishes with the tins of paint. They were outside TJ Hughes, next to the sweet barrow, which was closed, and which they had been eyeing with a view to robbing some sweets. They were facing A. R. Tym’s.

         They saw a little boy in a blue anorak outside the butchers. James was still eating his Smarties. It was Jon’s idea to approach him.

         ‘Come on, baby.’

         James followed, and Jon took his hand as they walked back towards TJ Hughes. A woman who had just finished work in a shoe shop noticed them as she passed. She smiled at James because he reminded her of a nephew.

         They went into TJ Hughes and walked through the store, then up the stairs. Leaving the store, they turned left into the walkway by Sayers that led to the main square. A woman who was sitting in Sayers, having a quiet drink while she waited for her bus, looked up and thought her grandson was walking past. A little boy with blond hair, skipping as he went along. The woman realised it wasn’t her grandson, and wondered momentarily why the little boy was on his own. She was reassured when he was joined by two older boys who seemed to call the child. He skipped to join them.

         ‘Come on, baby.’

         Bobby was walking just in front of Jon, who was holding James’s hand as they made their way past Mothercare towards Marks and Spencer and the entrance to the Strand. Camera 8: 15.42.32.
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         ‘He’s only just outside,’ said Nicola.

         Denise went back out, while Nicola finished being served. Denise came back.

         ‘I can’t find him outside.’

         She went back to the door, as one of the shop assistants realised something was happening.

         ‘What’s wrong?’

         ‘The little boy’s gone missing from outside.’

         The shop assistant told her to go to security and report it. Denise didn’t know where security was. The shop assistant told her. Round to the right, on the far side, by the back entrance.

         Denise and Nicola ran out, heading for security. They looked into a couple of shops, Superdrug and a stationers, asking around as they went. ‘Has anybody seen a little boy?’

         It was about quarter to four when Denise reached the security office with Nicola and Vanessa. She was very upset now, as she spoke to the guard on duty in the control room. James was the day’s first reported missing child. They were common enough to be unremarkable, and were almost always found within 15 to 20 minutes. Friday had been a quiet day all round, at the Strand. The fire alarm activated at Dixons at half past one had turned out to be the staff making toast for lunch.

         The guard took a description of James and where he had last been seen, then relayed the details by tannoy throughout the precinct. Denise and Nicola went off to search and came back about five minutes later, asking the guard to repeat the tannoy message. He had been looking through the security cameras but had seen nothing. He repeated the tannoy message as Denise and Nicola went off again.

         The guard received a phone call from TJ Hughes. Denise was there. Had the child been found yet? No. The guard passed on James’s description for the store’s own internal tannoy system.

         Denise returned to the office shortly before a quarter past four, with an in-store security officer from TJ Hughes. Any news? No. The Strand’s guard then phoned Marsh Lane Police Station, around the corner, to report a missing child, and made his own entry in the Strand’s Site Book: ‘16.15: Child missing on Precinct approx. 30 minutes. Police informed and given description. Police will attend a.s.a.p.’
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         James was carried the first few yards along Stanley Road, away from the Strand. It was a clumsy hold, like a bear hug, with James clasped to his carrier’s chest. A taxi driver saw this, and laughed at the older boy’s inexperience with children. When James was put down again, on the pavement between the Post Office and the bridge over the canal, he began crying.

         ‘Are you all right? You were told not to run,’ one of the boys said, loud enough for passers-by to hear.

         ‘I want my mum,’ said James.

         They turned off Stanley Road, past the railings, and down the slope towards the canal towpath. Jon was holding James’s hand, with Bobby beside them. A woman came out of the Post Office, where she had just paid her mother’s telephone bill. She saw the three boys, and thought they seemed in a hurry. She watched as James wandered ahead, and was ushered back. She thought James looked confused, and that the two boys were too young to be in charge of a child. They must be brothers, or relatives, she told herself.

         Down by the canal, Jon and Bobby went under the bridge and sat James on the guard rail that separated the towpath from the water. They talked about pushing him into the canal. Then one of them picked James up, and dropped him to the ground head first. His forehead was grazed and he began crying.

         Jon and Bobby ran back up the slope, leaving James by the canal crying. A woman walking over the bridge towards the Strand heard his distress and looked down. She saw James standing there crying, and presumed he must be with the other children, a group of three or four, whom she saw further along the towpath. Kids were always playing there.

         When Jon and Bobby went back for James he was already walking up the path towards them. ‘Come on, baby.’ They put up the hood of his anorak, to conceal the cut on his forehead. One of them carried him across Stanley Road at the pedestrian crossing, and put him down again on the other side. A passer-by noticed them and, despite the hood, she saw the mark on James’s forehead. She thought James seemed distressed, though he was no long er crying. She walked on, slightly uneasy, then decided to go back for another look. The three boys had disappeared.

         They had turned off the main road, down Park Street, past the Jehovah’s Witnesses’ hall. They turned right at the bottom, and left again at the Jawbone Tavern. They walked through the car park of a block of flats, lifted James over a wall, and emerged on to Merton Road through the grounds of an architect’s office. Jon and Bobby were now on the route they had taken earlier to the Strand, heading back to Walton.

         The 67a double-decker bus to Bootle was waiting at the Breeze Hill roundabout as Jon and Bobby crossed there, by Smiley’s Tyre and Exhaust Centre. A woman sitting downstairs, at the front of the bus, looked over to her right. She saw Christchurch on the corner, and noticed its sign, ‘You don’t have to be on your knees to pray.’ She saw two boys holding a child between them, swinging him by the hands as they walked. She noticed one of the boys lose his grip just as the bus pulled away, obscuring her view.

         Jon and Bobby did not turn directly on to Breeze Hill, but took the left fork at the roundabout, up Oxford Road. It took them past the offices of AMEC Building, a construction firm which had a security camera trained on its car park, facing the road.

         Three young women, teenagers, were walking up from Bootle, behind the three boys. A driver from a local dry-cleaning company noticed them as he passed in his van. He saw their short skirts and black tights and thought they looked fit. As he glanced round the driver caught sight of Jon and Bobby, pulling at James’s arms, as if trying to make him move. James looked red-faced and puffy, and the driver could see he was crying. He watched as Bobby gave James a persuasive kick in the ribs. The driver muttered to himself in disgust. ‘You’re going to be a scally.’

         The young women did not see this, but one of them did watch Jon and Bobby walking ahead, holding James between them by his hands.

         The other two teenagers barely noticed the boys; their attention was diverted by a lad they knew from school who was cycling past on his racer, head down, speeding up the incline of Oxford Road. He cycled straight into the back of a Nissan hatchback that was parked there. The two young women who had been watching him laughed, and laughed even louder when they realised their friend had missed the collision. She had been too busy watching the three boys.
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